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Horn Quarter, a Federal-style residence, is located on a rise at the end of an axial
farm lane off Route 614 in King William County. The rectangular, 57' x 40', two-story brick
structure has a double-pile, central-~hall plan and is set on a brick Foundation. All the
valls are executed in notably fine Flemish bond with ciled brick. Gauged brick elliptical
arches enhance both the main (south) and rear (north) entrances. A corbeled brick water
table is located above the basement story. The original painted mortar joints are still
visible under the south portico,

The center bay of the front elevation preserves its original tetrastyle Roman Doric
pedimented portico with paired stuccoed columns and pilasters. The capitals are unusual
and have egg-and-dart molding and a row of acanthus leaves. The entablature has a triglyph-
embellished frieze and an egg-and-dart cornice with mutules. The cornice is repeated along
the eaves. ‘ .

The small porch on the (north) rear elevation shelters the first-story entrance. The
porch partially covers the keystone and stylistically would appear to constitute a later
addition. The porch has paired fluted columns, Temple of the Wind capitals, a bracketed
frieze and a flat roof. The porch as well as the front portico is set on a brick podium and
has granite steps and pedestals. The granite on the fromnt steps appears to be a later
addition and may date from the counstruction of the rear porch.

y The front and rear doorways are similar in execution. They consist of a fanlight-tran-
som entry with complementing ~glass sidelights. The doorway is divided by Ionic colonnettes
which support a full entablature with a dentiled cornice. The composition is enclosed within
an elliptical arch with stone keystones and imposts. The original door remains in each
entry. Both have a bead which divides the panels in imitation of a double door., A beaded,
wrought-iron knocker ornaments the rear door. The iron railings on the rear steps are a
20th~century addition. ' o

First-and second~story fenestration on the north, east and west elevations consists of
6/6 hung-sash windows in simple architraves topped by lintel heads with turned corner blocks,
Rectangular-panel insets containing fluted ovals are found between the first-and second-
story windows on the nerth, east and west elevations. Basement windows contain six-pane
sash. The 6/6 hung-sash windows on the south elevation are flanked by 2/2 sidelights. The
#indows on the second story have paneled, Adamesque-style inset panels with fluted ovals
below the sills. Original louvred shutters remain on most of the windows. The hip roof is
covered by slate shingles and has a small balustraded deck which replaces an earlier example,
Two interior end chimneys are located on the east and west elevations.

Horn Quarter contains a distinguished Adamrsque ipterior. The house has a central-hall
plan that has in its northeastern corner an open-well stair that runs from the basement to
the attic. The basement contains a stone-paved hall that opens on to five rooms. The rooms
vere used for storage and perhaps informal dining. The stair begins in the basement with a
spiral newel and winds to the top with square balusters, a rounded handrail and scroll-sawn
srackets. ‘The first-and second-floor center halls are ecach distinguished by an elliptical
arch that has fluted column supports with carved Ionic capitals, a stylized keystone, and
nandsomely profiled moldings and gouge work. All the woodwork is presently painted white;
wvidence was found of the use of marbleizing on the columns and graining on the doors.

(See continuation sheet #1)
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STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE  Horn Quarter stands as one of the most impressive and highly orna- ¥
mental Federal-style residences in the Commonwealth. The house was erected in 1829-30 for §
George Taylor, son of the noted agrarian reformer, politician, and pamphleteer John Taylor ¥
of Caroline County. Architecturally, Horn Quarter belongs to an important group of sophic-§
ticated Federal houses, including Hampstead, New Kent County, erected in 1827 and Magno- §
lia Grange, Chesterfield County, erected in 1823, which apparently sharesa common yet
unidentified builder. Similar on the exterior, all the houses have comparable, refined
interior woodwork and ornamental plasterwork largely based on illustrations in Asher
Benjamin and Daniel Raynard's The American Builder's Companion (Boston, 1806). Both
Horn Quarter and Hampstead contain magnificent three-story spiral stairs, perhaps the two
most outstanding examples of their form in the state. In addition to its architectural
embellishments, Horn Quarter is noted for the remnants of its original elaborate gardens =
and for being one of the earliest Virginia houses with documented indoor plumbing. 3

The earliest known reference to the name "Horn Quarter! was found in 1722 when Frederick
Jones of North Carolina divected his brother to dispose of all his lands in King William
County commonly known as "Horn's Quarter.”™ By the 1770s the property had passed to the
Nelson family of Yorktown in the person of Councillor William Nelson. A letter from Major
John Nelson to his brother Governor Thomas Nelson, a signer of the Declaration of Indepen-
dence, is postmarked "Horn Quarter,' indicating that a dwelling existed on the property at
that time. 1In 1794 John Nelson, then the owner of the property, is charged with 23 slaves,
a post chaise and a chair, suggesting a substantial farming operation. 1Imn 1795 the proper-
ty consisting of 1,000 acres was purchased by William Penn of Mecklenburg County, North
Carolina for 4,166 pounds. At Penn's death the property was inherited by his sister Tucy
Penn Taylor (Mrs. John Taylor) who deeded it bto her somr Dr. John Taylor. 1In 1811 Dr. Tay-
lor sold the property to his brother Edmund Taylor of Caroline for 7.000 pounds. In 1825
the acreage is charged to a third brother, Ceprge Taylor, "from Edmund Taylor's estate:"l |}
Improvements. are listed as. $1,500. By 1830 the improvements increased to $6,000 with the
notation "$4,500 added on account of building.”2 In 1838 another $120 was added for build-
ings and in 1840 the valuation for improvements increased to $12,000 with no explanation.
An 1864 map indicated a substantial complex of buildings in the area, several of which
survive to the present.
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George Taylor, original owner of Horn Quarter, first appears in the personal property
books of 1827 as having 30 glaves and a $500 carriage, marks of considerable wealth., He is%
listed in the census for King William County in 1840 -but the tax books show him "of Rich- §
mond" by 1843. Besides his King William property, Taylor owned a rather spacious residence
in Richmond called "Hanover House" which was built in 1813-~14, Located at 10l South Fifth
Street, it was demolished in 1892, It would appear that Taylor divided his time between
the two residences.

3

According to a lawsuit,'"Taylor v. Taylor" of 1858-60 for the custody of their som, Mr. &
Mrs. Taylor resided in Richmond during the '40s and early '50s but spent much time at Horn
Quarter especially during the summer months. Tollowing the separation apd divorce of Mr.

; . ; i r where he supervise 1s
&Mrs Taglor in 1856, Taylor moved his rgm?gnce to Ho};[slegu?;ggg%nﬁation SheeE ﬁz) |
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6. REPRESENTATION IN EXISTING SURVEYS

2. Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission Survey
1968, 1979
Virginia Historic Landmarks Commission
221 Governmor Street
Richmond, Virginia 23219

7. DESCRIPTION

The front and rear porfions of the hall ceilings on the first floor are elaborately
ornamented with Adamesque-style plastered ceiling medallions. FElaborate plastered cornices
and plastered paneled ceilings are found in the principal rooms on the first floor.

Simpler plaster moldings grace the second-floor ceilings. The ceiling medallions are

based on illustrations in Asher Benjamin and Daniel Raynerd's, The American Builder's "
Companion, 1806, plates 25, 2¢ and 27. The doorways in the first- and second-floor -
halls and in the principal rooms are elaborately treated, the most distinguished having pair;
ed colonnettes that support complete entablatures with ancanthus ornamentation.

The window frames flanking the mantel in the southeast parlor are the most elaborate in

the house. The frames have paired'colonnettes that support rounded arches that are

embellished with cable moldings and stylized keystones. The first-floor mantels are l
highly Federal in feeling and consist of fluted Ionic columns that support an elongated
entablature embellished with carved acanthus and plain tablets. The marble mantel

in the southwest parlor is a Victorian replacement. Second-floor mantels show more
restraint in carving.

The second-floor rooms contain molded chair rails and symmetrically molded
architrave trim with turned corner blocks. Paneled wainsﬁotihg embellishes the
area under the window sills. Original closets exist between the northern and southern
chambers. They may have housed original plumbing fixtures and now serve as bathrooms
and dressing rooms, All floors are of pine, and all walls are plastered.

The estate is fortunate in retaining both its front and rear dependencies. The
rear (north) buildings are one story in height and are executed in Flemish bond. The
structures have 6/6 hung-sash windows, paneled doors and pyramidal roofs covered with
shingles. On axis with the main house and also flanked by the dependencies, the
overseer's house is a two-story structure executed in Flemish bond. It is covered
by a hip roof and has two interior end chimneys and ¢/6 hung sash. The first-story
screened porch is covered by a shed roof. A recent fire has destroyed the original
interior.

" R R E AT Y

The front dependencies flank the formal garden. The east and west buildings
respectively consist of an orangery and a schoolhouse or office. Both structures
are executed in a combination of Flemish bond and raundom course American bond. The edifices

(See continuation sheet #2)
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have a central entrance flanked by 6/6 hung-sash windows with shutters and are covered
by shed roofs with parapets. The dairy is a one-story brick structure also located
southwtst of the main house. The building has weatherboarded gables and a steep shingle-
covered roof.
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The cemetery is located west of the main house. It contains three markers, one a
marble column. The formal garden in front (south) of the house was quite impressive.
The house is elevated on a rise with the garden situated at the base and bounded by a small
stream that was crossed by a small bridge. The garden has not been maintained, and all
that remains is a cast-iron fountain. Early photographs show ‘the fountain, the bridge and
a variety of flowers and shrubs.

BOUNDARY JUSTIFICATION:

The nominated property of approximately 135 acres is a fraction of the original Taylor [
acreage of 1,408 acres (1854). The nominated property includes the main house, outbuildings,} .
cemetery and formal garden. The surrounding acreage was farmed by Taylor as wheat fields
thus providing munincumbered view of the house from the wmain road, now Route 614, 'the
natural terrain is used as a definition of boundary.

8. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

farming operation, while Mrs, Taylor lived in a boarding house on Grace Street in Richmond.
A lawsuit brought in 1859 by Wyatt Cardwell against George Taylor indicates that Taylor

was at that time looking for an overseer to take care of Horn Quarter while he made a trip
to Munich, Germany to visit his children. 1In the course of the suit it was explained that
the house had indoor plumbing including water closets, baths, and basins that had a tendency
to freeze in winter. Also mentioned in the suit were a fountain and extensive gardens that
needed careful tending.

In addition to modern conveniences and a formal garden, the house contains a lavish
interior. Along with its fine Adamesque-style plasterwork and woodwork, there is also
evidence of both graining and marbleszing. The elegant three-story, open-well stair and
spacious halls and parlors would indicate a wealthy owner. The garden plan and complement-
ing dependencies add to the architectural formality of the composition.

From the deed books of the period after the Civil War, it seems that George Taylor was
forced to sell off some of the land adjacent to Horn Quarter due to increased financial
difficulties. 1In 1868 he married his cousin, Henrietta Pendleton, 40 years his junior. -
George Taylor died in September 1872 and his son, John Penn Taylor received Horn Quarter
in the division of his father's estate. According to the tax books, John P. Taylor occupied
the house until at least 1880. The property was purchased in 1979 from the estate of Miss
Doris Powell by Mr. & Mrs. John Mills of Hanover County who farm the surrounding land.

aa

(See continuation sheet #3)
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8. STATEMENT OF SIGNIFICANCE

In addition to its architectural significance and associations with the Taylor
family, Horn Quarter may possess archaeolozical potential. On the property is probably
located the site of the 18th-century residence, a house at one time owned by Thomas
Nelson. The place has not yet undergone archaeological examination. P

L 1825 King William County Land Tax Books.
1830, ibid.
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10. CGREOGRAPHICAL DATA ['

said route; thence extending 1,400' N to 50" contour line; thence extending about
1,400" NW; thence turning E and extending approximately 1,000'; thence extending 200" N;
thence extending 2,500' E to point of origin.
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